

Front cover photo credit: Sarah David-Carrigan

The Core Elements of Human Antibiotic Stewardship Programs in Resource-Limited Settings: National and Hospital Levels is a publication of The National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases within the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Robert R. Redfield, MD, Director

National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases Rima Khabbaz, MD, Director

Suggested citation:

CDC. The Core Elements of Human Antibiotic Stewardship Programs in Resource -Limited Settings: National and Hospital Levels. Atlanta, GA:
US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC; 2018. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/healthcare/implementation.html

## Contents

Acronyms	2
Introduction	3
Approaches for National-Level Implementation	4
Challenges for implementation of ASPs in resource-limited settings	4
Tiered national-level antibiotic stewardship activities in resource-limited settings.	4
Intermediate level national activities: require some resources	8
Advanced: require a formal program with dedicated resources	10
Approaches for Facility-Level Implementation	12
Challenges for implementing ASPs in hospitals in resource limited settings.	12
Foundational structures of ASPs in an acute care facility	12
Beyond the foundation: a stepwise approachto building a stewardship program.	14
Monitoring and evaluation of ASP	19
Conclusions	21
Acknowledgements	21
References	22

# **Acronyms**

Acronym	Definition
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
ASP	Antibiotic Stewardship Program
AST	Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CRE	Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae
EML	Essential Medicine List
<b>EMR</b>	Electronic Medical Record
GAP	Global Action Plan
ID	Infectious Disease
LMIC	Low- and middle-income countries
МОН	Ministry of Health
PPS	Point Prevalence Survey
WHO	World Health Organization

### Introduction

Global, coordinated action to address the rising threat of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a public health priority. Rates of AMR have been increasing worldwide; limited available data also demonstrate high rates of AMR in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) where resources to combat resistance may be insufficient [1–3]. The World Health Organization released its Global Action Plan (GAP) to combat AMR in 2015, a key component of which is the development and implementation of antibiotic stewardship programs (ASP)[4].

Antibiotic stewardship refers to coordinated efforts and activities that seek to measure and improve use of antibiotics. Implementation of ASPs has demonstrated positive public health and clinical impacts including reducing costs, lengths of hospital stays, and the burden of antimicrobial resistance while maintaining or improving patient outcomes [5,6]. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) released the Core Elements of Hospital Antibiotic Stewardship Programs in 2014, which outlines essential components for ASPs in hospitals and provides practical guidance for implementing a robust ASP in an acute care facility [7]. Variations to the Core Elements have been developed to deal with the particular challenges in small, rural or critical access hospitals in the United States [8] and in outpatient facilities [9] and nursing homes.

However, to date, implementation strategies have all been aligned with expected resources in high-income countries, such as the United States, that have robust regulatory frameworks and well-functioning healthcare systems. Practical, high-yield strategies to implement the Core Elements concepts in international resource-limited settings with weak health systems are urgently needed to move ASPs forward in such settings. Such strategies must be feasible, sustainable, and tailored to the resources that are currently available in such countries while capacity is built in areas of need to ensure access and reduce the inappropriate use of antibiotic agents. Additionally ASPs must be aligned with other national and international public health programs, such as the global sepsis initiative, so that conflicting guidance on antibiotic use is avoided.

This document seeks to provide a framework for thinking about implementation of antibiotic stewardship programs in such settings and the approach outlined here is based on expert opinion and experiences in implementing ASPs in the United States and globally. The document includes both national and facility-level activities, as the former are a critical compliment to the activities that are undertaken in hospitals and other health care facilities. First, national level policies and programs will be discussed and grouped by capacity and resources needed to implement the activities. Next, facility-level activities at the acute care level will be discussed, also grouped by capacity and resource level. Stewardship is needed at multiple levels of care, including outpatient settings. This document includes national policies that can improve use across the spectrum of care. There is also a focus on ASP implementation at the acute care level as a starting place for facility-level implementation in countries; future documents will address implementation in outpatient and other settings. The focus of the ASPs described here are on the human health side, but linkage with the veterinary and agricultural sectors should be considered where appropriate.

### Approaches for National-Level Implementation

# Challenges for implementation of ASPs in resource-limited settings

Low- and middle-income countries have a number of challenges in implementing ASPs. These include gaps in the availability of appropriate policies and guidelines, few infectious diseases-specific and pharmacy-specific training programs, limited diagnostic and laboratory capacity, gaps in data on antibiotic use or antimicrobial resistance patterns, weak data management systems, inexperience with data analysis and program implementation, and scarce human and material resources [10–13]. Additionally many low- and middle-income countries struggle with limited access to antibiotics, which can also drive inappropriate use. While these challenges may pose barriers to implementing all stewardship activities recommended by global or local public health agencies, meaningful steps toward implementing a national stewardship program are possible in any setting.

# **Tiered national-level antibiotic stewardship activities** in resource-limited settings

We categorized core ASP activities by levels of capacity frequently seen in resource-limited settings (Table 1). We defined basic activities as those that typically do not require substantial resources except for personnel time and access to some technical expertise. Intermediate activities were defined as those that require some resources, planning, and dedicated staff to implement. Advanced activities were defined as those that require the establishment of a program with trained staff and allocation of dedicated resources.

**Table 1** – National-level antibiotic stewardship program activities and policies, categorized into **Basic**, **Intermediate**, and **Advanced** categories

Capacity/resource level	Activity
Basic: require only limited resources	Promote the creation of national committees and teams with clear terms of reference
	<ul> <li>Develop national and/or sub-national antibiotic stewardship action plans</li> </ul>
	Participate in antibiotic awareness campaigns
	Adopt policies requiring prescriptions
Intermediate: require some resources,	Develop and ensure access to recommended formularies
planning, and dedicated staff	Create and promote adherence to evidence-based treatment guidelines for common clinical syndromes
	Promote diagnostic stewardship
	<ul> <li>Support inclusion of antibiotic stewardship training in pre-service curriculums or stand-alone courses</li> </ul>
Advanced:	Enforce policies requiring prescriptions
require establishment of a formal program with trained staff and	<ul> <li>Track antibiotic dispensing using available data and set national targets for improvement</li> </ul>
dedicated resources	Measure antibiotic use and assess appropriateness
	<ul> <li>Describe resistance patterns to improve treatment guidelines and identify priority pathogens</li> </ul>
	Monitor antibiotic quality
	Address drivers of inappropriate prescribing behavior

# Basic level national activities: require only limited resources

**Promote the creation of national committees and teams with clear terms of reference.** One of the most important components, and one of the first activities a country should undertake, is the establishment of relevant national ASP committees and teams, which typically would include a coordination and leadership team and a technical working group [14]. An ASP coordination/ leadership team may consist of at least one Ministry of Health (MOH) focal person with dedicated time to lead the ASP, additional Ministry stakeholders (e.g., agriculture), and important stakeholders and subject matter leaders (e.g., pharmacists, infectious disease specialists, and microbiologists). The responsibilities and terms of reference of a national ASP leadership group may include developing a national antibiotic stewardship action plan or policy; convening and liaising with stakeholders; and reviewing the progress of these programs.

An additional technical working group may also be formed, which could consist of technical level staff to oversee the implementation of the national action plan or policy. Terms of reference could include developing protocols or standard operating procedures, monitoring and evaluation, and reporting progress to policy makers and other interested national and global groups. Depending on the country, additional committees and teams might needed at the sub-national levels, if appropriate.

Develop a national and/or sub-national antibiotic stewardship action plan. National antibiotic stewardship action plans, or national action plans on AMR that cover stewardship, are vital tools for countries as they take the broad stewardship goals outlined in the WHO GAP and adapt them for their country context. National action plans are also important to outline country priorities and as a first step toward securing additional resources for implementation. A country may also choose to develop sub-national stewardship action plans instead or in addition to the national action plan. Publicly available resources to assist countries with development of such plans exist: several national action plans that specifically focus on stewardship are available from high resource settings [15-17] and a searchable database of national action plans on AR from a variety of resource settings are available online from the WHO [18], though not all of these address stewardship specifically. Additionally, the WHO has provided a sample template for countries who may need assistance with drafting a national action plan for AR, which includes specific objectives around antibiotic stewardship [19]. As with any action plans, there is a need to align the content of antibiotic stewardship action plans with other initiatives that provide guidance on use of antibiotics.

Participate in antibiotic awareness campaigns. Public health campaigns can be used to support behavior change [20–22] and can contribute to improvements in overall antibiotic use [23]. Examples of nationally supported antibiotic awareness campaigns include India's Red Line public awareness campaign [24], and Thailand's Antibiotic Smart Use (ASU) program [25]. While creating and implementing a customized awareness campaign might be resource intensive, countries can also access existing materials through the WHO website <a href="http://www.who.int/campaigns/world-antibiotic-awareness-week/en/">http://www.who.int/campaigns/world-antibiotic-awareness-week/en/</a>[26] or CDC website <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/week/index.html">https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/week/index.html</a>[27]. Other awareness campaign resources include "How to improve the use of medicines by consumers [28]" "Promoting rational use of medicines: core components [29]" and CDC's "Be Antibiotics Aware Stakeholder Toolkit [30]."

Adopt policies requiring prescriptions for antibiotics. Widespread access to antibiotics without a prescription is prevalent in many low- and middle-income countries. Policies that require a prescription from a healthcare provider are a critical first step, although probably not sufficient, toward improved rational use of antibiotics. Experience from countries in Latin America has demonstrated that policies requiring prescriptions alone are not as effective as when such policies are paired with dedicated regulatory enforcement [31,32]. However, approving such policies may not require many resources and must be done before enforcement can be carried out. While such policies may themselves have some impact on antibiotic use, assessing and improving compliance will require resources (see Advanced category).

However, if not implemented thoughtfully, prescription policies in some countries might have the unintended consequence of limiting access in areas where healthcare providers are not readily accessible. To address this, a country could adopt policies to require prescriptions in certain geographic areas where access to medical consultation are more prevalent (e.g., in cities), while in other areas a prescription from a community health worker or pharmacist/chemist may be accepted. Similarly, countries may require that only certain antibiotics (e.g., broad-spectrum antibiotics where resistance or overuse is a concern) may require a prescription but other antibiotics that would be frequently used for common illnesses could still be accessed over the counter.

# Intermediate level national activities: require some resources

Develop and ensure access to recommended formularies. Recommended formularies are lists of antibiotics that are suggested for certain healthcare settings. In developing a recommended formulary, countries should consider the needs of patients and facilities where they receive care. For example, clinicians in rural or primary health centers may need wide access to first-line antibiotics (e.g., penicillin, ampicillin, TMP-SMX), but last resort antibiotics such as carbapenems or colistin might be limited to tertiary care hospitals. Efforts to create antibiotic formularies may be linked to efforts within countries to create or update essential medicine lists (EML). The WHO is developing a version of the EML that takes into account some of these considerations, including three categories of antibiotics, "ACCESS", "WATCH", and "RESERVE" [33]. The ACCESS category are antibiotics recommended to be available at all times for a wide range of common infections; WATCH are first or second-choice antibiotics, which should be used carefully to avoid further resistance; and RESERVE antibiotics are last-resort options that should only be used in severe or rare situations. The WHO document "How to Develop a National Formulary Based on the WHO Model Formulary - A Practical Guide" is available to help countries develop a recommended list of antibiotics [34]. Once recommended antibiotic formularies are established, it is critical to take steps to ensure that national procurement and supply systems are able to reliably support access to the recommended medications.

Create and promote evidence-based treatment guidelines for common clinical syndromes. One important activity for a national program is to support the use of evidence-based treatment for common clinical syndromes (e.g., sepsis, community acquired pneumonia). Ideally, evidence-based standard treatment guidelines should reflect the local epidemiology and susceptibility of causative organisms within the country. If country-level data are not available, the guidelines might be based on expert opinion or guidelines from countries where the epidemiology is likely to be similar. It is important to stress that even if local data are not available, the presence of standard treatment guidelines is still a critical and necessary initial step to improving antibiotic use.

Following the development of guidelines by designated experts, ministries of health can promote adherence to these guidelines through education and messaging campaigns aimed at providers, the public, relevant professional societies, or training programs aimed at healthcare providers. Most commonly, campaigns have focused on common clinical syndromes such as respiratory tract infections, urinary tract infections and sexually transmitted diseases, where antibiotics are frequently misused [22]. Recognizing that education alone is often insufficient to change practice, countries may also consider developing incentives and/or disincentives to promote adherence to the guidelines, possibly as part of a multimodal strategy.

Promote diagnostic stewardship. Diagnostic stewardship ensures that patients get the right test at the right time. It should ensure that tests happen when needed, that specimens are collected properly, and that results are given to providers in a timely manner to guide patient treatment. Guidelines developed for the treatment and management of infections should include criteria for the appropriate use of laboratory tests [35]. In areas where some reliable antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) capacity exists, countries may focus on improving the use of these labs by providers, which will ultimately improve the data available to clinicians for appropriate antibiotic use and improved patient care [36]. To improve and expand the availability of diagnostic capacity, countries may encourage and prioritize allocation of sufficient resources for diagnostic testing, including culture diagnostics, to guide antibiotic therapy. Countries can promote appropriate diagnostic testing by conducting on-thejob trainings, improving collaborative communication between laboratories and providers, and strengthening pre-service curricula to highlight the importance of prudent testing.

Support inclusion of antibiotic stewardship training in pre-service curriculums, in-service programs, continuing education programs or stand-alone courses. Studies have consistently identified gaps in the knowledge, attitudes, and practices of healthcare students and professionals in LMIC [37–39]; and stewardship has not been consistently included in undergraduate and graduate training programs [40–42]. Training programs can help to improve clinical practice, although the implementation of such courses will take resources to implement. Examples are available [43–45] although countries should consider their local context, including treatment guidelines and regulations, when considering developing training courses.

#### Advanced: require a formal program with dedicated resources

Enforce policies requiring prescriptions. Policies requiring a prescription for antibiotics do not always result in adherence to the policy. To improve compliance with policies, Ministries may consider various approaches, ranging from enforcement with penalties for non-compliance; to incentivizing improved compliance; or even public education campaigns to inform the general public about the requirements and importance of getting a prescription prior to obtaining antibiotics.

Track antibiotic dispensing using available data and set national targets for *improvement.* Countries have an interest in understanding the types of, quantities of, and locations where antibiotics are being used. This is the objective basis for identifying which antibiotics may be targeted for improved use, or which areas or locations could benefit from stewardship activities. Furthermore, these data can be used, depending on collection methodology, to compare use within a country and track trends. Antibiotic use can consist of prescribing, dispensing, and consumption data. Availability of these data will certainly vary by country, but a wide variety of prescribing or dispensing data sources may already be available such as importation/production data, national purchasing data, sales data, claims, or proprietary data (e.g., IQVIA) and can be leveraged for this activity. This is distinct from antibiotic consumption data (see below), which often require access to medical records or the novel collection of data.

Using antibiotic dispensing data for action will require the ability to analyze what may be a complex dataset. Additionally, countries should consider which actions they are prepared to take since the use of these data should be tied to some kind of policy or program action to improve stewardship. For example, the data can be used to establish national targets for dispensing so that all stakeholders can work collaboratively toward a common goal.

Measure antibiotic consumption and assess appropriateness. Antibiotic consumption data differs from dispensing data in that the former actually measures patient-level use, and may also approximate the appropriateness of that use. A common way to measure antibiotic use is through a point prevalence survey (PPS). Protocols for PPS that include antibiotic use have been well developed and such studies have been conducted in a number of countries [46–48]. In a PPS, a population is surveyed (e.g., hospital or outpatient populations) to describe the prevalence of antibiotic use, which antibiotics are being used, and the indications for use; data can also be collected to assess the appropriateness of the use. Typically, hospital-based PPS require access to medical records, including pharmacy records. Outpatient PPS may require patient records, patient interviews, and pharmacy data. Assessing the appropriateness of use can benefit from robust, locallyinformed clinical guidelines, where available. Because of the volume of data collection needed for a PPS, resources involved with such an effort are usually substantial, but time-limited, as conducting a PPS is done periodically, not continuously. Alternatively, a PPS on antibiotic use may be simplified or targeted at high-risk medications, such as carbapenems, if resources do not allow for a comprehensive survey. Other options for measuring antibiotic use include studies, longitudinal surveillance, and EMR-based "data dumps" [49].

Describe resistance patterns to improve treatment guidelines and identify priority pathogens. Assuming treatment guidelines for common clinical syndromes and quality assured AST are available, countries can review and analyze available AST data to improve treatment guidelines. Ideally, representative AST data are available, undergo regular data analysis, and summary information is widely available in reports, publications, or on the internet. Countries should review their AST data to determine priority pathogens or syndromes for targeting interventions. For example, if review of AST data demonstrated high frequency or prevalence of multi-drug resistant Gram-negative bacteria, such as carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), countries could target facilities to improve their CRE infection prevention and control programs. Additionally, countries may identify syndromes, populations, drugs or provider types to target stewardship activities.

Monitor antibiotic quality. Reports in the literature have demonstrated that in some instances, the quality of the antibiotics available for use in some countries may be of varying quality [50,51]. In these reports, antibiotics may have reduced dosage of antibiotic, which can result in unknowingly sub-therapeutic treatment and the development of resistance. While the testing, monitoring, and actions needed to address this issue are beyond the scope of this document, it is nonetheless important to highlight this important issue, as governments should consider this topic when developing national action plans.

Address drivers of inappropriate prescribing behavior. In some countries, antibiotic recommendations by clinicians and pharmacists can be subject to incentives and other drivers, which are separate from accepted guidelines or norms of practice. For example, in some countries, health care providers earn a large portion of their income by selling prescription drugs, leading to inappropriate or irrational antibiotic prescribing sometimes up to twice the WHO standard [52]. Where clinical practice deviates substantially from guidelines, Ministries can take action to better understand these drivers, and consider policies to address these drivers.

## Approaches for Facility-Level Implementation

### **Challenges for implementing ASPs in hospitals** in resource limited settings

Hospitals in resource-limited settings face a complex series of challenges to implementing ASPs. Resources are needed to support stewardship activities, including persons who can dedicate time to such activities. Even when money, staff, and time are available, there is often a lack of expertise or experience among clinical staff. Implementing stewardship activities may also be limited by gaps in laboratory capacity, since reliable lab data play a crucial role in guiding appropriate therapy. Gaps are also present in the ability to track and report relevant data on antibiotic use to clinicians and hospital administrators. Obtaining support and buy in for stewardship activities might also be challenging due to existing hierarchies within hospitals.

The goal of this section is to give a practical, stepwise framework for hospitals in resource-limited settings to develop ASPs. It is also to illustrate how such facilities can and should establish some form of sustainable ASP, given current resources and abilities, even if it is limited in scope and reach, with an eye toward more complete implementation of Core Elements once additional resources and capacities are available. We emphasize the foundational structures and the processes needed to identify and act upon target priorities in facilities. We also briefly discuss the specific activities that can help achieve the target priorities, in addition to the laboratory and pharmacy data that are typically required to conduct these activities. As with the national-level antibiotic stewardship plans, ASPs at facilities should ensure that content is aligned with other initiatives that concern antibiotic use that are ongoing at the facility to avoid conflicting guidance on appropriate antibiotic use.

#### Foundational structures of ASPs in an acute care facility

The foundations of any ASP are: 1) a single point of contact responsible for the program and 2) support from hospital leadership. These map to the Core Elements of Accountability/Expertise and Leadership Commitment, respectively.

#### Single focal point with responsibility for the program

Identifying an ASP focal point for the facility is critical. Stewardship guidance from high-income countries often stress the value of an infectious disease (ID) trained physician as the most effective leader of an ASP with a pharmacy co-lead who also ideally has ID training. Such personnel are often not available in resource-limited settings, even if a pharmacy is on site. Data from stewardship work in South Africa demonstrated that pharmacists without formal ID training can effectively oversee an ASP when stewardship-specific training was provided to supplement existing knowledge [53]. Physicians without formal ID training have long been ASP leaders or co-leaders in the United States and could

serve in this capacity in resource limited settings as well. In the hierarchy of the hospital, having a senior physician involved and committed to the ASP, even if not leading it, can often be of great value in obtaining agreement from other hospital stakeholders. In resource-limited settings, non-traditional staff types, such as infection control nurses or clinical microbiologists, may be tasked with stewardship activities, though the efficacy of such staff categories in running an ASP has not been studied [54]. Whatever the background of the ASP focal point, leadership and communication skills are essential characteristics of an effective leader.

Given the wide range of staff categories that may be involved in stewardship in LMIC, formal or on-the-job training on antibiotics and stewardship is essential for the stewardship lead to ensure they are prepared to manage an ASP. This may be done in person if available, or via off-site support through telestewardship. Both of these methods have been used in small remote hospitals in the United States that face similar personnel challenges [55]. Massive open online courses on antibiotic stewardship are also now globally available in several languages, though they require reliable internet connectivity. Professional societies can also play an important role in the mentorship (either formal or informal) of stewardship leaders with national or international support as has been described in a South Africa mentoring program supported by Ohio State University [56].

#### Support from hospital leadership

A committed focal point for overseeing the ASP is not a sufficient foundation for initiating an ASP until it is paired with support from hospital leadership. This includes, at a minimum, the commitment of time and other resources for the stewardship leader to receive training as well as plan and conduct the activities that are included in the ASP. In addition, hospital leadership/administration buy-in is critical to dedicate the time and other resources required for sustainable implementation. If governance structures, such as a Medicines and Therapeutic Committee, exist within the hospital, they can be asked to oversee stewardship efforts. However, such committees often are not initially designed with such responsibilities in mind and thus may need to be refocused to accommodate and support ASP activities. Hospital leadership can also leverage their influence to promote ASPs via facility circulars, policy statements and other public communications from hospital administration to employees, all of which have negligible associated cost. Further agreement from other stakeholders in the facility are likely necessary and should be guided by the focus of the ASP, but leadership support is required regardless.

#### Beyond the foundation: a stepwise approach to building a stewardship program

Guidance produced in high-income countries often provides a general discussion of ASP activities, without a discussion of building the ASP program. We propose the following stepwise approach to building an ASP that relies on the foundation outlined above and emphasizes beginning where a facility has resources and interest, and building toward a larger stewardship program. These map to the CDC Core Elements of Hospital Antibiotic Stewardship, with some modifications [7].

1. Form an antibiotic stewardship committee: The stewardship committee should aim to bring together the relevant hospital stakeholders, including any personnel with infectious disease or pharmacy background /expertise, to keep them engaged in and updated on stewardship activities, in addition to successes and challenges. The committee is also important to obtain agreement and buy-in from various departments to enhance the likelihood of a successful program. The designated focal point for stewardship activities should sit within this committee, ideally as the chair or lead.

Representation on this committee can be fundamental to the success of the ASP. In one pilot of a stewardship program in Egypt, senior surgeons were identified in facilities to participate in the ASP by auditing antibiotic prescriptions for surgical prophylaxis and providing feedback. This led to significant increases in the optimal use of such antibiotics [57]. Nurses and infection control personnel are also important to include since their involvement in stewardship activities is needed and they can provide valuable linkages to other related initiatives in a facility, such as multi-drug resistant organism or healthcare-associated infection surveillance, if they exist.

Start with a single priority area of the ASP: In most hospitals, there are many areas in which antibiotic use can be optimized, but attempting to introduce change in many areas simultaneously can be difficult especially with substantial resource constraints. We recommend starting with a single priority or focus for the program. The priority area would ideally be identified by reviewing existing data on antibiotic use, if available, or via conducting a focused needs assessment or situational analysis of antibiotic use at the facility. However, it is important to note that a lack of facility-level data on antibiotic use or prescribing practices, while consistently mentioned as a barrier to beginning an ASP in surveys of resource-limited facilities [54], should not be viewed as a requirement for choosing a priority. In the absence of data, expert opinion, for instance that of the stewardship committee, can and should be used to identify the priority.

Identifying the priority should take into account existing hospital resources, such as laboratory and pharmacy capacity, which may limit addressing some priority items despite known issues. Priorities may also be focused within a specific unit or area where antibiotic use is known to be high (e.g., an intensive care unit or operating room where perioperative prophylaxis is given) and do not need to be hospital-wide to be meaningful. Initial priorities might also be hospital-wide but narrowly defined in terms of their scope - such as reviewing the need for antibiotics after 48 hours, especially when cultures are negative. Examples of priorities could be:

- Reducing inappropriate use of colistin, carbapenem, or 3<sup>rd</sup> generation cephalosporin antibiotics
- Improving adherence to guidelines for empiric treatment for community acquired pneumonia or sepsis
- Ensuring appropriate use of antibiotics during surgical prophylaxis
- 3. Ensure appropriate policies or guidelines are in place, especially for the priority area: in order to improve antibiotic use, there should be some clinical guidance, or standard, to strive toward. Indeed, issuing of guidelines was identified as one of the most effective ASP interventions in a survey of hospital staff across 58 LMIC [58]. In the absence of such guidance, it becomes difficult to hold prescribers accountable to ideal use and encourage changes in practice. Facilities may use or adapt national, regional or local guidance if available, modifying as needed for realities in their facility (e.g., drug availability, acuity of patients). It should be noted that the guidance does not need to be overly exhaustive, or even based on rigorous, locally-produced evidence. Facilities may choose to start with a short, targeted document for the priority area, based on a simple adaptation of national guidelines to fit the local context.

Educate staff and publicize stewardship campaign: Once a priority area is chosen and policies and guidelines are in place, frontline staff may require additional education around these guidelines. Even if guidelines are already in place, refresher training via in-service training or other educational opportunities (e.g., grand rounds) may be helpful. Educating staff should not be viewed as a single endeavor but rather as an ongoing process with training repetition, as is feasible for the facility to support, in order to ensure that new staff, rotating staff (e.g., interns and junior doctors), and students receive education as well as reinforcement of previously trained personnel. Education of staff may be general or targeted depending on the priority area chosen, for instance if the priority area is around surgical prophylaxis, focusing on training relevant staff categories, such as surgeons, anesthesiologists and nurses on surgical floors would be the priority. Such a targeted training has been successful in an ASP pilot in Egypt [57].

Additionally, publicizing the stewardship campaign and alerting staff to the coming stewardship activities around the priority topic will be critical in order to raise awareness of the ASP and to gain buy in from prescribers and other healthcare personnel. Programs can engage champions, such as senior surgeons, physicians, or administrators within targeted groups to lead education and publicity efforts. This might include posters, text messages, posts on social media or other modalities already in use in a facility to promote hospital messaging. Some of these modalities have been used in high-income settings with success, especially those around using social media to promote ASP goals [59, 60].

5. Implement stewardship activities targeted at the priority: The designated stewardship leader with the buy-in of the committee should choose 1-3 activities targeted at the priority area, which will comprise the core of the ASP. As a general rule, starting with fewer activities and doing them well is preferable to implementing more activities which can be difficult to execute simultaneously.

Given that there are many types of stewardship activities with a range of complexity and resource requirements, thought should be given to what is realistic to achieve in a facility given existing strengths and resource limitations, and which activities will most likely have the desired impact on the priority area. Table 2 provides a short description of ASP activities, and outlines which generally will require a functional bacteriology laboratory, or an on-site pharmacy/centralized antibiotics list. Of note, many of these activities, particularly the ones that require on-site pharmacy/centralized antibiotic lists are greatly assisted by the presence of an EMR from which data on prescriptions can be gathered. However, an EMR is not required for any activities.

**Table 2.** Selected stewardship activities and requirements for implementation at a hospital.

Activity	Description	Requires a functional bacteriology laboratory?	Requires participation from a dedicated pharmacy <sup>1</sup>	Requires a centralized <sup>2</sup> antibiotic list, paper or electronic
Training on guidelines	Pre-service, in-service, or even informal trainings or workshops to educate healthcare workers on guidelines or guidance; also serves to sensitize healthcare workers about the stewardship program	No	No	No
Antibiotic rounds	Rounds held on a regular basis to review and discuss antibiotic choices and ensure accordance with best practice guidelines	No	No	No
Prescription alerts	Alerts to clinicians where prescriptions may be overlapping or duplicative (e.g., overlapping anaerobic activity)	No	Yes <sup>3</sup>	No
Audit/ feedback	A review of prescribing practices that typically requires accessing a medical record to link clinical picture and antibiotic prescriptions with a goal of evaluating the appropriateness of prescribing in order to generate regular feedback to clinicians with a goal of modifying prescribing practices	No	No	No
Prior authorization	A requirement that clinicians must get approval before select antibiotics will be dispensed for patient use	No	Yes	No
Antibiotic restriction	A blanket rule that clinicians are unable to prescribe certain antibiotics in certain classes of patients	No	Yes	No

Activity	Description	Requires a functional bacteriology laboratory?	Requires parti- cipation from a dedicated pharmacy <sup>1</sup>	Requires a centralized <sup>2</sup> antibiotic list, paper or electronic
Automatic stop order	Antibiotics are stopped automatically after a predefined time period according to indication (e.g., 24 hours for surgical prophylaxis or 5 days for community acquired pneumonia) regardless of physician order	No	Yes	Yes
Automatic changes	An aspect of the original prescription is routinely changed usually without requiring a new clinician order (e.g., IV →PO fluoroquinolones)	No	Yes	No
Selective lab reporting	Labs report a limited number of antibiotics for susceptibility results as opposed to all antibiotics tested	Yes	No	No
Cascade lab reporting	Lab reports susceptibility testing to second line/ expensive antibiotics are only if an organism susceptibility testing meets certain criteria (e.g. resistant to first line antibiotics)	Yes	No	No
Antibiotic timeout	Defined, regular prompts to the clinician to re-evaluate antibiotic choices (e.g., at 48 hours a clinician is prompted to review any empiric IV antibiotic therapy)	No	No <sup>4</sup>	Yes
Antibiotic reminder	Prompts to the clinician that are tied to a particular prescription in real time (e.g., when a clinician chooses to order an IV quinolones, the clinician is asked if patient can take PO)	No	Yes	No
Facility-level antibiogram	Creation of an antibiogram based on results of facility susceptibility testing <sup>5</sup>	Yes	No	No

#### Table 2.—References

- Dedicated pharmacy mean a pharmacy that is required by the facility to participate in ASP activities. This could include a single onsite pharmacy, an off-site but participating pharmacy or a pharmacy network which is participating in the facility ASP. This does not include situations where patients or clinicians go off site to purchase medications in an unaffiliated pharmacy that is not participating in ASP activities.
- <sup>2</sup> Centralized antibiotic list may be facility-wide list or a list of antibiotics received by all patients in a geographic area (e.g., ward) where antibiotic stewardship activities are taking place.
- <sup>3</sup> Prescription alerts could be done by medical record review in absence of a dedicated pharmacy, however this would be extremely time and labor intensive and ideally should implemented at the pharmacy level.
- In the absence of a dedicated pharmacy, review of a facility or ward level antibiotic list could be reviewed by an ASP point person who would then prompt physicians via text or in person to re-evaluate antibiotic choices.
- <sup>5</sup> Creation of a facility-level antibiogram is not sufficient to meet criteria for an ASP activity as ensuring the information provided in an anitibiogram is applied to antibiotic use in a facility requires dissemination and training of clinicians and prescribers as well.

While we have presented a stepwise approach, it will likely be necessary to regularly review and revise the approach while setting up an ASP. For instance, a stewardship committee may be initially set up but if surgical prophylaxis is identified as the facility priority, relevant stakeholders from the surgery department need to be recruited to the committee if they are not already present.

### **Monitoring and evaluation of ASP**

ASP activities around tracking and reporting program activities can be added as a facility builds capacity. The CDC Core Elements for U.S. hospitals describes monitoring antibiotic use and outcome measures as fundamental ASP activities. However, this type of monitoring often requires longitudinal collection of additional data, which is resource intensive and logistically difficult in resource-limited settings given the absence of electronic health records and/or centralized prescription databases. Facility level stewardship activities outlined in this document can be done in the absence of any monitoring and evaluation schema. However, when implemented, monitoring and evaluation of an ASP can provide important information about the successes and challenges of the program and show the value it adds to hospital administration and other stakeholders.

Monitoring and evaluating processes. When a facility in a resource-limited setting embarks on developing a monitoring and evaluation plan for an ASP, a reasonable place to start is with tracking process measures. For instance, if a facility seeks to improve appropriate 3<sup>rd</sup> generation cephalosporin usage in an ICU through chart audits and feedback to providers, they may want to track measures such as 'number of charts reviewed' or 'providers contacted' at some frequency (e.g., weekly). This would enable them to monitor program

implementation and catch challenges or issues early on in the process. While process measurements can seem relatively simple to collect, gathering the necessary data on a regular basis can be complex and time consuming depending on data collection methods and human resource requirements. Therefore, we do not include monitoring, even of process measures, as a core ASP activities for resource-limited settings. However, when it can be done, it can provide valuable information and should be pursued.

Monitoring and evaluating impact. While process measures describe the implementation of a program, they are not able to reveal anything about the downstream impact of ASP activities. Moving beyond process measures, monitoring the impact of an ASP can be extremely useful in demonstrating effectiveness and value of a stewardship program, and are considered core elements of stewardship in high resource settings. A first step in facilities that are interested in pursuing this type of advanced monitoring and evaluation would be to set priority targets for an ASP and monitor progress towards meeting them. Tracking particular antibiotic use or consumption in hopes of reaching a pre-identified target (e.g., 50% reduction in carbapenem use) is a commonly used impact indicator in high-income settings. Often such antibiotic use indicators are easier to implement and more likely to demonstrate successes in the short term as opposed to clinical outcomes (e.g., 50% reduction in carbapenem-resistent Enterobacteriaceae infections). Measuring impact and outcome measures will generally require more time and effort than process measures and often requires the ability to collect real-time data on activities for feedback and action. Therefore, we suggest that this type of monitoring should be viewed as an advanced activity within an ASP, implemented when resources allow and paired with specific activities and targets rather than ongoing longitudinal collection of consumption data, for instance. Stewardship activities can and should still be implemented in the absence of a formal impact or outcome monitoring and evaluation schema. Some common ways to measure impact include:

- Total antibiotic use (measured as days of therapy or defined daily dose) [61,62]
- Appropriateness of antibiotic selection, dose and duration (e.g. % prescriptions that adhere to local guidelines for a given condition)
- Cost (e.g. a cost-effectiveness analysis of the program)
- Resistance
- Clinical outcomes (e.g. rates of Clostridioides difficile or methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections)

### **Conclusions**

This approach to building national and facility-level ASPs in resource-limited settings outlined here it is not an exhaustive list of approaches to ASP, it may serve as a starting point for stakeholders in resource-limited settings. Currently, there may be fewer ASPs in resource-limited settings, but almost certainly there will be more countries and facilities that will be designing and starting their own programs. Further experience with developing functional and impactful ASPs can help to improve documents such as these, and lessons learned will be invaluable assets toward improving the quality of antibiotic use globally.

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following people for their review and input: Debra A. Goff, PharmD, The Ohio State University Medical Center, Columbus Ohio; Nalini Singh, MD, MPH, George Washington University; Evelyn Wesangula, PharmD, Patient Safety Unit, Ministry of Health, Kenya; Martin Matu, PhD, East, Central and South African Health Community, Arusha, Tanzania; Jarred O. Nyakiba, BPharm, MPharm, MPH, Department of Health Standards Quality Assurance and Legislation, Ministry of Health, Kenya; Sujith Chandy MD, PhD, Christian Medical College, Vellore, India.

### References

- Okeke, I.N., et al., Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Part I: recent trends and current status. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 2005. 5(8): p. 481–493.
- 2. Organization, W.H., Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. 2014: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 3. Gandra, S., et al., Trends in antibiotic resistance among major bacterial pathogens isolated from blood cultures tested at a large private laboratory network in India, 2008–2014. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 50: p. 75-82.
- 4. Organization, W.H., Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance. 2015: Geneva.
- Nowak, M.A., et al., Clinical and economic outcomes of a prospective antimicrobial stewardship program. American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy, 2012. **69**(17): p. 1500-1508.
- 6. Kaki, R., et al., Impact of antimicrobial stewardship in critical care: a systematic review. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2011. 66(6): p. 1223-30.
- Pollack, L.A. and A. Srinivasan, Core elements of hospital antibiotic stewardship programs from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Clin Infect Dis, 2014. **59 Suppl 3**: p. S97–100.
- 8. CDC, Implementation of Antibiotic Stewardship Core Elements at Small and Critical Access Hospitals, N.C.f.E.a.Z.I. Diseases, Editor. 2017: Atlanta, GA.
- Sanchez, G.V., et al., Core Elements of Outpatient Antibiotic Stewardship. MMWR Recomm Rep, 2016. **65**(6): p. 1–12.
- 10. Mendelson, M., et al., Maximising access to achieve appropriate human antimicrobial use in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet, 2016. **387**(10014): p. 188–98.
- 11. Bebell, L.M. and A.N. Muiru, Antibiotic Use and Emerging Resistance: How Can Resource-Limited Countries Turn the Tide? Global Heart, 2014. 9(3): p. 347–358.
- 12. Nguyen, K.V., et al., Antibiotic use and resistance in emerging economies: a situation analysis for Viet Nam. BMC Public Health, 2013. 13(1): p. 1158.
- 13. Laxminarayan, R. and D.L. Heymann, Challenges of drug resistance in the developing world. Bmj, 2012. 344: p. e1567.
- 14. Holloway, K.A., L. Rosella, and D. Henry, The Impact of WHO Essential Medicines Policies on Inappropriate Use of Antibiotics. PLOS ONE, 2016. 11(3): p. e0152020.
- 15. National action plan for combating antibiotic-resistant bacteria. 2015: Washington, DC.
- 16. Diseases, H.a.t.N.C.C.f.I., Putting the pieces together: A national action plan on antimicrobial stewardship. 2016: Ottawa.
- 17. Health, D.o., Ireland's national action plan on antimicrobial resistance 2017–2020. 2017: Dublin.
- 18. Organization, W.H. *Library of National Action Plans*. Available from: http://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/national-action-plans/library/en/.

- 19. Organization, W.H. Sample Template: National action plan on antimicrobial resistance. Available from: <a href="http://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/national-action-plans/sample-template.pdf">http://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/national-action-plans/sample-template.pdf</a>.
- 20. Weiss, J.A. and M. Tschirhart, *Public information campaigns as policy instruments*. Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, 1994. **13**(1): p. 82–119.
- 21. Wakefield, M.A., B. Loken, and R.C. Hornik, *Use of mass media campaigns to change health behaviour.* The Lancet, 2010. **376**(9748): p. 1261–1271.
- 22. Mirko Saam, B.H.a.S.H., Evaluation of antibiotic awareness campaigns.
- 23. Filippini, M., L.G.G. Ortiz, and G. Masiero, Assessing the impact of national antibiotic campaigns in Europe. The European Journal of Health Economics, 2013. **14**(4): p. 587–599.
- 24. Travasso, C., *India draws a red line under antibiotic misuse.* Bmj, 2016. **352**: p. i1202.
- 25. ReAct, Antibiotics Smart Use Thailand.
- 26. World Health, O., World Antibiotic Awareness Week. 2017.
- 27. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a. *U.S. Antibiotic Awareness Week*. 2018; Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/week/index.html.
- 28. World Health, O., How to improve the use of medicines by consumers. 2007.
- 29. World Health, O., Promoting rational use of medicines: core components. 2002.
- 30. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a., Be Antibiotics Aware Stakeholder Tookit. 2017.
- 31. Bavestrello, L., A. Cabello, and D. Casanova, [Impact of regulatory measures in the trends of community consumption of antibiotics in Chile]. Rev Med Chil, 2002. **130**(11): p. 1265–72.
- 32. Wirtz, V.J., A. Dreser, and R. Gonzales, *Trends in antibiotic utilization in eight Latin American countries*, 1997–2007. Rev Panam Salud Publica, 2010. **27**(3): p. 219–25.
- Organization, W.H., WHO updates Essential Medicines List with new advice on use of antibiotics, and adds medicines for hepatitis C, HIV, tuberculosis and cancer. 2017.
- World Health, O., How to Develop a National Formulary Based on the WHO Model Formulary. 2004.
- 35. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a., Antibiotic Stewarship Statement for Antibiotic Guidelines Recommendations of the HICPAC.
- 36. World Health, O., *Diagnostic Stewardship A guide to Implementation in Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Sites.* 2016.
- 37. Labi, A.-K., et al., *Physicians' knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions concerning antibiotic resistance: a survey in a Ghanaian tertiary care hospital.* BMC Health Services Research, 2018. **18**(1): p. 126.

- 38. Ibrahim, F., et al., Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs Regarding Antimicrobial Therapy and Resistance Among Physicians in Alexandria University Teaching Hospitals and the Associated Prescription Habits. Microbial Drug Resistance, 2017. 23(1): p. 71-78.
- 39. Abera, B., M. Kibret, and W. Mulu, Knowledge and beliefs on antimicrobial resistance among physicians and nurses in hospitals in Amhara Region, Ethiopia. BMC Pharmacology and Toxicology, 2014. 15(1): p. 26.
- 40. Teixeira Rodrigues, A., et al., Understanding physician antibiotic prescribing behaviour: a systematic review of qualitative studies. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 41(3): p. 203–212.
- 41. Wasserman, S., et al., South African medical students' perceptions and knowledge about antibiotic resistance and appropriate prescribing: Are we providing adequate training to future prescribers? SAMJ: South African Medical Journal, 2017. 107: p. 405-410.
- 42. Bulabula, A.N.H., et al., Education and management of antimicrobials amongst nurses in Africa—a situation analysis: an Infection Control Africa Network (ICAN)/BSAC online survey. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2018: p. dky023-dky023.
- 43. Chemotherapy, B.S.f.A., Antimicrobial Stewardship: From Principles to Practice.
- 44. Organization, W.H., Antimicrobial Stewardship: A competency-based approach.
- 45. Learn, F., Antimicrobial Stewardship: Managing Antibiotic Resistance.
- 46. Reilly, J.S., et al., A pilot validation in 10 European Union Member States of a point prevalence survey of healthcare-associated infections and antimicrobial use in acute hospitals in Europe, 2011. Euro Surveill, 2015. 20(8).
- 47. Zarb, P., et al., Identification of targets for quality improvement in antimicrobial prescribing: the web-based ESAC Point Prevalence Survey 2009. J Antimicrob Chemother, 2011. **66**(2): p. 443–9.
- 48. Magill, S.S., et al., Prevalence of antimicrobial use in US acute care hospitals, May-September 2011. Jama, 2014. 312(14): p. 1438-46.
- 49. Chandy, S.J., et al., Patterns of antibiotic use in the community and challenges of antibiotic surveillance in a lower-middle-income country setting: a repeated cross-sectional study in Vellore, south India. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 2013. **68**(1): p. 229–236.
- 50. Hajjou, M., et al., Monitoring the quality of medicines: results from Africa, Asia, and South America. Am J Trop Med Hyg, 2015. 92(6 Suppl): p. 68-74.
- 51. Nickerson, J.W., et al., Fatal Bacterial Meningitis Possibly Associated with Substandard Ceftriaxone – Uganda, 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016. **64**(50-51): p. 1375-7.
- 52. Li, Y., et al., Overprescribing in China, driven by financial incentives, results in very high use of antibiotics, injections, and corticosteroids. Health Aff (Millwood), 2012. **31**(5): p. 1075 – 82.
- 53. Brink, A.J., et al., Antimicrobial stewardship across 47 South African hospitals: an implementation study. Lancet Infect Dis, 2016. 16(9): p. 1017-1025.

- 54. Howard, P., et al., *An international cross-sectional survey of antimicrobial stewardship programmes in hospitals.* J Antimicrob Chemother, 2015. **70**(4): p. 1245–55.
- 55. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a. *Implementation of Antibiotic Stewardship Core Elements in Small and Critical Access Hospitals*. Available from: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/healthcare/implementation/core-elements-small-critical.html">https://www.cdc.gov/antibiotic-use/healthcare/implementation/core-elements-small-critical.html</a>.
- 56. Goff, D.A., et al., A global call from five countries to collaborate in antibiotic stewardship: united we succeed, divided we might fail. Lancet Infect Dis, 2017. **17**(2): p. e56–e63.
- 57. Saied, T., et al., *Antimicrobial stewardship to optimize the use of antimicrobials for surgical prophylaxis in Egypt: A multicenter pilot intervention study.* Am J Infect Control, 2015. **43**(11): p. e67–71.
- 58. Cox, J.A., et al., *Antibiotic stewardship in low- and middle-income countries:* the same but different? Clin Microbiol Infect, 2017. **23**(11): p. 812–818.
- 59. Pisano, J., et al., *Social media as a tool for antimicrobial stewardship.* Am J Infect Control, 2016. **44**(11): p. 1231–1236.
- 60. Kullar, R. and D.A. Goff, *Transformation of antimicrobial stewardship programs through technology and informatics.* Infect Dis Clin North Am, 2014. **28**(2): p. 291–300.
- 61. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a., Antimicrobial Use and Resistance (AUR) Module. 2018.
- 62. Organization, W.H. Essential medicines and health products: ATC/DDD Toolkit. 2018; Available from: <a href="http://www.who.int/medicines/regulation/medicines-safety/toolkit/en/">http://www.who.int/medicines/regulation/medicines-safety/toolkit/en/</a>.

